TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY
40B"CHESEHIL" St ABBE Fourer 11

¥4 ’9300-245' 9, 1983

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Region II

ATTN: James P. O'Reilly, Regional Administrator
101 Marietta Street, NW, Suite 2900

Atlanta, Georgia 30303

Dear Mr. O'Reilly:

Enclosed is our response to R. C. Lewis' November 9, 1983 letter

to H. G. Parris transmitting Inspection Report Nos. 50-259/83-38,
-260/83-38, -296/83-38 regarding activities at our Browns Ferry
Nuclear Plant which appeared to have been in violation of NRC
regulations. We have enclosed our response to Appendix A, Notice of
Violation. In our response to Item A, we request your reevaluation
of that violation based upon the information submitted. If you have
any questions, please call Jim Domer at FTS 858-2725.

To the best of my kncwledge, I declare the statements contained
herein are compleie and true.

Very truly yours,

TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY

L. M. Mills, Hager

Nuclear Licensing
Enclosure

3290207 840320
333 ADOCK OSKNND%%:

An Equal Opportunity Employer
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was either inside the A and C heat exchanger room or escorting the
other drums to a storage location. With administrative dose limits
providing a buffer, it would have been extremely difficult or
impossible to construct a situation where legal dose limits could have
been exceeded. Thus the unmarked drum could be considered to be
exempted by the criteria of 10 CFR 20.203(f)(3)(iv). Based on the
circumstances, it is requested that issuance of this violation be
reconsidered.

3. Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved

A copy of the inspection report has been distributed to health physics
personnel.

L. Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken To Avoid Further Violations

This is considered to be a random event which could have been
considered to be in compliance with 10 CFR 20.203(f)(3)(iv). No
further steps are planned.

5. Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

full compliance has been achieved.

Item B (259, 260, 296/83-38-03;

Technical Specification 6.3.4.7 requires that detailed radiation control
procedures . . . shall be prepared, approved and adhered to. Irowns Ferry
Radiological Control Instruction (RCI)=1 prohibits eating, drinking,
smoking or chewing inside a regulated area. RCI-1 requires that personnel
exiting a contamination zone -erform a whole body frisk and shall pass the
probe slowly over the surface of the body, keeping the probe one centimeter
above the surface of the skin or clothing.

Contrary tc the above, radiation control procedures were not prepared or
adhered to, in that: ¢

(1) Browns Ferry RCI-5, dated August 10, 1982, has not been updated to
reflect the current changes to 49 CFR regarding the transportation of
radioactive material, especially regarding dose rate limits associated
with vehicles and packages. Browns Ferry has made several radioactive
material shipments per week since the new requirements went into
effect July 1, 1983. The existing procedure was not adhered to in
that the present procedural limits contradict the revised 49 CFR
requirements.
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On September 15, 1983, two licensee empioyees were observed on the 565
elevation of the Unit 1 Reactor Building performing excessively rapid
whole body frisks while holding the detector probe approximately two
to six inches from their body.

On September 14, 1983, a licensee guard was observed chewing gum in a
regulated area of the Unit 2 Reactor Building 565 elevation. On
September 15, 1983, a GAPCO employee was observed chewing candy in the
regulated area of the Unit 1 Reactor Building 565 elevation.

This is a Severity Level V Violation (Supplement IV).

1.

2,

Admission or Denial of the Alleged Violation

TVA admits the violation occurred as stated.

Reasons for the Violations if Admitted

Licensee personnel failed to incorporate the 49 CFR changes to RCI-5 in
a timely manner aue to an administrative oversight.

Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and Results Achieved

RCI-5 was revised to incorporate the 49 CFR changes. ™VA is presently
evaluating its method for incorporating CFR changes into corporate-
level and plant-level procedures and will provide a follow-up report by
Api1l 1, 1984,

4. Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken To Avoid Further Violations
Additional corrective steps are dependent on the result of our study.
5. Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved
Full compliance regarding the violation has been achieved.
Item B(2)
1. Admission or Denial of the Alleged Violation
TVA admits the violation occurred as stated.
2. Reasons for the Violations if Admitted

Licensee personnel violated Browns Ferry Nuclear Plant procedures by
not performing adequate whole-body frisks.
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3, Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved
Administrative actions in accordance with plant procedures were taken
against the individuals involved.

4, Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken To Avoid Further Violations
None.

5. Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved
Full compliance has been achieved with administrative action.

Item B(3)

1. Admission or Denial of the Alleged Violation
TVA admits the violation occurred as stated.

2. Reasons for the Violations if Admitted
Licensee personnel violated Browns Ferry Nuclear Plant procedures by
entering plant regulated area with gum and candy in their mouth.

3. Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved
Administrative actions in accordance with plant procedures were taken
against the individuals involved.

4. Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken To Avoid Further Violations
None.

5. Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

Full compliance has been achieved with administrative action.



